FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 1/12/2021 2:05 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/13/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. <u>99419-6</u> Court of Appeals No. 79353-5-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Respondent,

v.

JOSE RODRIGUEZ,

Petitioner.

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Whitney H. Sichel, WSBA No. 44474 Attorney for Petitioner

The Defender Association Division King County Department of Public Defense 710 Second Avenue, Suite 700 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 477-8700, ext. 78719 Whitney.Sichel@kingcounty.gov

A. **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Jose Rodriguez, Petitioner and Defendant below, respectfully requests that this Court review the published decision of the Court of Appeals in *City of Seattle v. Rodriguez*, No. 79353-5-I (December 14, 2020), a copy of which is attached. *See* Appendix at 1. This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the case presents a significant question of law under both the Washington State Constitution and the Constitution of the United States.

B. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

 Is SMC § 12A.10.040 unconstitutionally overbroad because it proscribes content-based speech— agreeing to pay money for sex— while also expressly prohibiting any consideration of the defendant's intent or knowledge?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Rodriguez was charged with sexual exploitation under Seattle Municipal Code § 12A.10.040 based on an interaction between Mr. Rodriguez and an undercover police officer on February 2nd, 2016 where Mr. Rodriguez was alleged to have offered the undercover officer \$80 for sex.

The offense of SMC § 12A.10.040 required the City of Seattle to prove that Mr. Rodriguez "agreed to pay a fee to another person pursuant to an understanding that in return therefor that person would engage in sexual conduct" with him. Although "sexual conduct" is defined elsewhere in the Seattle Municipal Code, there is no codified definition for "agree," "agreement," or "pursuant to an understanding." An additional provision in SMC § 12A.10.040, added to the ordinance in 2010, states that "liability for sexual exploitation does not require proof of any of the mental states described in Section 12A.04.030," which in turn defines intent, knowledge, recklessness, and criminal negligence.

1. PRETRIAL PROCEEDINGS

Prior to trial, the defense moved to dismiss the prosecution as a violation of the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Article I § 5 of the Washington Constitution. The defense argued that the sexual exploitation ordinance was unconstitutionally vague and overbroad due to the fact that it prohibited speech without requiring that the speech be expressed in intentional furtherance of the commission of an illegal act.¹ The trial court denied the motion, relying on a previous ruling by another judge in an unrelated Seattle Municipal Court case.²

The City moved *in limine* to exclude any argument by the defense regarding Mr. Rodriguez's intent.³ The prosecutor argued that sexual exploitation is "essentially ... a strict liability crime," such that "mentioning

¹ VRP 4/13 at 4-8.

² VRP 4/13 at 7.

³ VRP 5/23 at 20.

to the jury that Mr. Rodriguez did not intend to commit this crime is not relevant to the crime at hand."⁴ Defense counsel objected, pointing out that "the intent...goes to whether or not someone was joking," which was relevant because "in order to get to an agreement, that's something that requires intent."⁵ The trial court granted the City's motion.⁶

2. TRIAL TESTIMONY

Detective Tammie Case was the first to testify. Detective Case works for the Seattle Police Department and conducts undercover prostitution operations.⁷ On February 2nd, 2016, Detective Case was posing as an undercover prostitute at a private condo in Seattle.⁸ According to Detective Case, in previous days she had received a number of text messages expressing interest in meeting up "for sex."⁹ Detective Case text messaged an address to the number and at some point later called the number and Mr. Rodriguez answered.¹⁰ Detective Case met Mr. Rodriguez outside of the condo.¹¹ She waved at him and he approached her outside of the building.¹² Detective Case told Mr. Rodriguez that he was cute and he smiled at her.¹³

⁴ VRP 5/23 at 20.

⁵ VRP 5/23 at 22.

⁶ VRP 5/23 at 22.

⁷ VRP 5/24 at 46-48.

⁸ VRP 5/24 at 51.

⁹ VRP 5/24 at 52-53.

¹⁰ VRP 5/24 at 54-55.

¹¹ VRP 5/24 at 54-55.

¹² VRP 5/24 at 55.

¹³ VRP 5/24 at 55.

Mr. Rodriguez followed her into the elevator and up to the room.¹⁴ She asked whether he wanted an "hour or a half hour," to which he responded a half hour.¹⁵ Detective Case asked Mr. Rodriguez "what he wanted" and he responded "Just sex."¹⁶ She said "\$80 bucks," and he shook his head in a "yes" motion and held up eight fingers.¹⁷ Detective Case asked Mr. Rodriguez if he wanted two girls and he said "no, just one girl" and held up one finger.¹⁸ Mr. Rodriguez told Detective Case that he "was at work" and when she asked where he worked he responded "restaurant."¹⁹ Mr. Rodriguez handed Detective Case \$80, at which point Case left with the money and the arrest team took Mr. Rodriguez into custody.²⁰ Detective Case also told the jury that she was able to communicate with Mr. Rodriguez.²¹ Regarding Mr. Rodriguez's "just sex" statements, Detective Case was permitted to state, over defense objection, that "in this case I believe it would be penis to vaginal sex."²² No video or audio recording was made of the interaction.²³

During cross-examination, Detective Case admitted that, when

¹⁴ VRP 5/24 at 55.

¹⁵ VRP 5/24 at 55.

¹⁶ VRP 5/24 at 55-56.

¹⁷ VRP 5/24 at 56.

¹⁸ VRP 5/24 at 56.

¹⁹ VRP 5/24 at 56, 84-85.

²⁰ VRP 5/24 at 56-57.

²¹ VRP 5/24 at 60.

²² VRP 5/24 at 62.

²³ VRP 5/24 at 48-49, 83.

working as an undercover, it was "solely at [her] discretion" whether the crime of sexual exploitation had been committed and arrest was warranted.²⁴ Although Detective Case was permitted to testify about what she thought Mr. Rodriguez meant by saying "just sex",²⁵ there was no other testimony about what Mr. Rodriguez may have meant or understood. Mr. Rodriguez was not permitted to elicit testimony about his limited ability to speak English or how that may have affected his understanding of the interaction.²⁶

During defense counsel's opening statement, the trial judge sustained objections to statements referencing Mr. Rodriguez's limited ability to speak English, presumably due to the court's pretrial ruling that Mr. Rodriguez's subjective understanding or intent was irrelevant.²⁷

Officer Marion testified that he was part of the arrest team in the sting operation.²⁸ Defense counsel attempted to cross-examine Officer Marion about the fact that Marion was unable to communicate with Mr. Rodriguez due to the language barrier.²⁹ The trial judge sustained the prosecutor's objection, finding that testimony from Officer Marion about Mr. Rodriguez's English-language skills was "irrelevant."³⁰

²⁴ VRP 5/24 at 79.

²⁵ VRP 5/24 at 57.

²⁶ VRP 5/24 at 126-32, 161.

²⁷ VRP 5/23 at 44.

²⁸ VRP 5/24 at 100

²⁹ VRP 5/24 at 126-32.

³⁰ VRP 5/24 at 131-32.

The final witness was Detective Brundage, who testified that he organized the sting operation.³¹ In cross examination, defense counsel attempted to ask about whether a Spanish speaking officer was requested to deal with Mr. Rodriguez, but the trial judge sustained the City's objection, again stemming from the trial court's pretrial ruling that Mr. Rodriguez's subjective knowledge or intent was irrelevant to the charge.³² The City rested after Detective Brundage's testimony and the defense did not present evidence.³³

3. JURY INSTRUCTIONS AND CLOSING ARGUMENTS

In the discussion of jury instructions, the trial judge denied the

defense request for an instruction that read as follows:

An agreement requires intent. A person acts with intent or intentionally when acting with the objective or purpose to accomplish a result that constitutes a crime.³⁴

The final instructions included the following definitional instruction

for sexual exploitation:

A person commits Sexual Exploitation when he or she agrees to pay a fee to another person pursuant to an understanding that in return therefor that person will engage in sexual conduct with him or her.³⁵

³¹ VRP 5/24 at 139, 143.

³² VRP 5/24 at 161.

³³ VRP 5/24 at 162-63.

³⁴ VRP 5/24 at 168.

³⁵ Court's Instructions to the Jury #7.

Although "sexual conduct" was defined in the instructions, neither "agree" nor "understanding" were. The trial court also instructed the jury as follows:

Liability for sexual exploitation does not require proof of the defendant's intent or knowledge to commit sexual exploitation.³⁶

In closing argument, the defense attempted to address Mr. Rodriguez's mental state. He argued, "this crime…basically criminalizes speech. It's an agreement. To come to an agreement there must be an understanding. What did Mr. Rodriguez understand? What was going through his mind?"³⁷

The prosecutor's rebuttal argument zeroed in on defense counsel's assertions about Mr. Rodriguez's understanding. She told the jury that "the exchange of money, physical money, is not even required to be guilty of sexual exploitation. It's just the words. It's just the words of someone offering sex and someone offering it for a certain price. And another person agreeing to it."³⁸ The prosecutor directed the jury's attention to instruction #10, arguing that Mr. Rodriguez should be found guilty

³⁶ Court's Instructions to the Jury #10.

³⁷ VRP 5/24 at 189.

³⁸ VRP 5/24 at 196.

regardless of his "intent or knowledge to commit sexual exploitation."39

Mr. Rodriguez was found guilty of the crime of sexual exploitation and timely appealed. His conviction was upheld on RALJ, and again by Division I of the Court of Appeals.

D. ARGUMENT

1. SMC § 12A.10.040 is unconstitutionally overbroad because it proscribes content-based speech while prohibiting the trier of fact from considering the defendant's intent or knowledge, thus criminalizing a substantial amount of protected speech.

The City of Seattle's Sexual Exploitation ordinance, SMC §

12A.10.040, provides as follows:

A person is guilty of sexual exploitation if:

- 1. Pursuant to a prior understanding, he or she pays a fee to another person as compensation for such person or a third person having engaged in sexual conduct with him or her; or
- 2. He or she pays or agrees to pay a fee to another person pursuant to an understanding that in return therefor such person will engage in sexual conduct with him or her; or
- 3. He or she solicits or requests another person to engage in sexual conduct with him or her in return for a fee.⁴⁰

The ordinance, as amended in 2010, now additionally provides that

"liability for sexual exploitation does not require proof of any of the

mental states described in Section 12A.04.030."41 SMC 12A.04.030 in

³⁹ VRP 5/24 at 197.

⁴⁰ See Appendix at 9: SMC § 12A.10.040.

⁴¹ *Id*.

turn describes intent, knowledge, recklessness, and criminal negligence.⁴²

SMC § 12A.10.040 previously was identical to Washington's prostitution statute, RCW § 9A.88.030, which proscribes engaging, agreeing, or offering to engage in sexual conduct with another person in return for a fee.⁴³ In 2010 the City of Seattle amended SMC § 12A.10.040 to add a provision expressly removing any requirement that the words of solicitation be uttered with any intent to further an unlawful act of prostitution.⁴⁴ This legislative maneuver removed the requirement to prove the words were "directed toward persuading someone to enter into an illegal agreement" and so created a strict liability offense.

A law restricting speech may be invalidated on its face if the law is "substantially overbroad".⁴⁵ A law is overbroad if it sweeps within its prohibitions constitutionally protected free speech.⁴⁶ Criminal statutes require particular scrutiny and may be facially invalid if they "make unlawful a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct ... even if they also have legitimate application."⁴⁷ A facial overbreadth

⁴² See Appendix at 10: SMC § 12A.04.030.

⁴³ See Appendix at 11: RCW § 9A.88.030(1)- Patronizing a Prostitute.

⁴⁴ See Appendix at 12: Seattle City Ordinance 123395, § 8 (2010).

⁴⁵ City of Seattle v. Huff, 111 Wash. 2d 923, 925, 767 P.2d 572, 573 (En Banc 1989); Houston v. Hill, 482 U.S. 451, 458, 107 S. Ct. 2502, 2508, 96 L.Ed.2d 398, 410 (1987); 4805 Convoy, Inc. v. City of San Diego, 183 F.3d 1108, 1111 (9th Cir. 1999).
⁴⁶ Huff, 111 Wash.2d at 925; City of Tacoma v. Luvene, 118 Wash.2d 826, 839, 827 P.2d 1374, 1381 (1992).

⁴⁷ *Huff*, 111 Wash.2d at 925.

challenge does not require that the person making the attack demonstrate that his own conduct could not be regulated by a statute drawn with the requisite narrow specificity.⁴⁸

The court will generally presume that legislative enactments are constitutional.⁴⁹ Usually the party challenging an enactment bears the burden of proving its unconstitutionality.⁵⁰ However, in the free speech context, the burden shifts and the State bears the burden of justifying a restriction on speech.⁵¹ Content-based restrictions that touch on protected speech are presumptively unconstitutional and are thus subject to strict scrutiny.⁵² Under that stringent level of review, the government must show that its regulation is necessary to serve a compelling state interest and that it is narrowly drawn to achieve that end.⁵³

It is inarguable that Seattle's Sexual Exploitation ordinance proscribes pure speech. It criminalizes verbal agreements that sexual conduct will occur in exchange for a fee, as well as solicitations or requests for the same. Such agreements, solicitations, or requests, can only

⁴⁸ State v. Immelt, 173 Wash. 2d 1, 7, 267 P.3d 305, 308 (En Banc 2011).

⁴⁹ State v. Bahl, 164 Wash.2d 739, 753, 193 P.3d 678, 686 (2008).

⁵⁰ Voters Educ. Comm. v. Pub. Disclosure Comm'n, 161 Wash.2d 470, 481, 166 P.3d 1174, 1180 (2007).

⁵¹ *Id.* at 482; *Ino Ino, Inc. v. City of Bellevue*, 132 Wash.2d 103, 114, 937 P.2d 154, 162 (1997); *Immelt*, 173 Wash. 2d 1, 6 (2011).

⁵² Collier v. City of Tacoma, 121 Wash.2d 737, 748-49, 854 P.2d 1046, 1052 (1993).

⁵³ *Id.* at 749; *City of Bellevue v. Lorang*, 140 Wash.2d 19, 29-30, 992 P.2d 496, 501 (2000).

take place through speech and expression, and no "overt act" is required to complete the agreement.⁵⁴

While it is generally true that the crime of soliciting a prostitute is not protected speech, this exception exists only pursuant to the "welldefined and narrowly limited" category of "speech integral to criminal conduct."⁵⁵ Seattle's Sexual Exploitation ordinance, however, does not merely prohibit "speech integral to criminal conduct," because without any required mental state (i.e. any requirement that the speaker actually intend for an exchange of sex for money to take place), the law's broad scope also encompasses legal speech protected by the First Amendment.

It is well-recognized that a criminal statute will be subject to overbreadth analysis if the law's scope extends to protected speech, even if the law primarily addresses criminal conduct. For example, in *State v*. *Williams*, the defendant challenged a harassment statute that prohibited making threats to harm someone's physical or mental health or safety.⁵⁶ This Court held that, although the statute in question "clearly prohibits true threats," it implicated the First Amendment and was subject to an overbreadth analysis because "it prohibits *at least some* constitutionally

⁵⁴ City of Yakima v. Emmons, 25 Wn. App. 798, 801, 609 P.2d 973 (1980).

⁵⁵ See, e.g., Rynearson v. Ferguson, 355 F. Supp. 3d 964, 969 (W.D. Wash. 2019); see also United States v. Alvarez, 567 U.S. 709, 717–18, 132 S. Ct. 2537, 2544, 183 L. Ed. 2d 574 (2012).

⁵⁶ 144 Wash.2d 197, 26 P.3d 890 (2001).

protected speech."⁵⁷ The Court then held that because the statues was a content-based regulation that touched on protected speech, it was "presumptively unconstitutional and ... thus subject to strict scrutiny."⁵⁸ Similarly, in *Rynearson v. Ferguson*, the District Court for the Western District of Washington found that Washington's criminal cyberstalking statute was facially unconstitutional because, despite its clear application to criminal behavior, the law's "breadth—by the plain meaning of its words—includes protected speech that is not exempted from protection by any of the recognized areas [of Constitutional Law]."⁵⁹

Seattle Sexual Exploitation Ordinance suffers the same deficiency. Although the law as originally enacted clearly proscribes prostitution, the 2010 amendment removing any mens rea requirement extended the scope beyond actual, intended agreements to exchange money for sex. It is precisely the element of intent, or mental state, that separates the crime of prostitution (soliciting a prostitute) from protected speech. As in *Williams* and *Rynearson*, because the speech proscribed by SMC § 12A.10.040 extends to encompass protected speech as well as criminal agreements, it is subject to an overbreadth analysis under the First Amendment.

Further, the amount of protected speech implicated by Seattle's

⁵⁷ Id. at 208 (emphasis added).

⁵⁸ *Id.* at 208.

⁵⁹ 355 F.Supp.3d 964, 969 (2019).

Sexual Exploitation ordinance is substantial. Unless an "agreement pursuant to an understanding" to engage in sexual conduct for money is coupled with actual intent that such an act occur, the ordinance could affect a multitude of written or spoken artistic productions where the content involved scenes or depictions of money exchanged for sex. The actors in a local adaptation of "Les Miserables" or "Pretty Woman" would be susceptible to criminal prosecution, despite the obvious lack of intent to form any true agreement or understanding. Indeed, a simple internet search for musicals with prostitution narratives comes up with similar examples such as "The Best Little Whorehouse in Texas" (opened on Broadway in 1978, U.S. Tour 1980), "Miss Saigon" (opened on Broadway in 1991, first U.S. tour 1992), "Jekkyl & Hyde" (opened in Houston in 1990, first U.S. tour in 1995) and "Moulin Rouge" (opened on Broadway in 2019).

This potential for curtailing artistic expression has been compelling to other courts. In *Ford v. State*, the Nevada Supreme Court considered a prostitution pandering law, which did not expressly include a requisite culpable mental state.⁶⁰ The court interpreted the statute as requiring a culpable mental state to avoid punishing otherwise innocent conduct:

Ford's examples of the overprotective mother, the young man looking for love, and movie star Julia Roberts [in her role in Pretty

⁶⁰ Ford v. State, 127 Nev. 608, 262 P.3d 1123 (2011).

Woman] convince us that reading NRS 201.300(1)(a) as not requiring specific intent would do just that: Criminalize innocent conduct and, at the same time, cast the statute into constitutional doubt under the First Amendment and due process principles.⁶¹

The court in *Ford* upheld the statute by reading in an implied specific intent element, but reversed the defendant's conviction because the jury instructions had "created the misimpression that Ford could be convicted based simply on a showing that he intended to speak the words he did, rather than that he spoke them specifically intending" to persuade another to become a prostitute.⁶²

The Oregon Supreme Court has also held that prostitution

solicitation laws require criminal intent or could otherwise be violated by

actors performing on stage:

The issue raised by defendant's attack on the complaint really concerns the meaning of "agree." Obviously, more than an exchange of words of gestures signaling assent is required, or the statute would be violated if actors performed a scene depicting such an agreement in a play, although neither means to act on the pretended agreement.⁶³

Another concerning and broad impact of SMC § 12A.10.040

would be the law's effect on non-native English speakers. As currently

written, the ordinance would prohibit the trier of fact from assessing

whether a defendant's limited English abilities might have affected their

⁶¹ *Id*. at 618-19.

 $^{^{62}}$ *Id.* at 625-26.

⁶³ State v. Huie, 292 Or. 335, 338, 638 P.2d 480 (1982).

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