FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/27/2021 11:55 AM No. 99419-6 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### CITY OF SEATTLE, Respondent,

vs.

JOSE RODRIGUEZ, Petitioner.

### **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

PETER S. HOLMES SEATTLE CITY ATTORNEY

Richard Greene Assistant City Attorney WSBA #13496

Attorneys for Respondent

Seattle City Attorney Criminal Division 701 Fifth Ave., Suite 2050 Seattle, Washington 98104 telephone: (206) 684-8538

#

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

argument that the speech component of the statute prohibiting

Prostitution was entitled to constitutional protection:

[The statute] makes illegal not only the physical sexual act(s) but also the negotiations that assure the seller of the economic return expected for the performance of the physical act(s). Because the words uttered as an integral part of the prostitution transaction do not have a lawful objective, they are not entitled to constitutional protection.

<sup>15</sup> 348 Ill. App. 3d 115, 120–21, 809 N.E.2d 712, 717 (2004) (citations and quotations omitted).

<sup>16</sup> 779 S.W.2d 576, 579 (Mo. 1989).

A.2d 1143 (1981); *Delaware v. Hicks*, 360 A.2d 150, 152 (Super. Ct. 1976), *affirmed*, 373 A.2d 205 (1977).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> New York v. Smith, 44 N.Y.2d 613, 623, 378 N.E.2d 1032 (1978).

Washington courts also have rejected the argument that communication directed to the unlawful conduct of paying for sex is protected speech. In State v. Carter,<sup>17</sup> the court rejected an overbreadth challenge to the statute prohibiting Pimping and stated "we fail to see how speech directed towards persuading someone to enter into an illegal arrangement, *i.e.*, procuring a person for sexually immoral acts involving prostitution, involves constitutionally protected speech." The court reiterated in *State v*. *Cann*,<sup>18</sup> that "[s]peech directed toward the persuasion of another to enter into an illegal arrangement does not enjoy constitutional protection." Cann rejected an overbreadth challenge to the statute prohibiting advancing prostitution. The court in Yakima v. *Emmons*,<sup>19</sup> in rejecting an overbreadth challenge to a Prostitution ordinance, again stated that "we fail to see how speech directed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> 89 Wn.2d 236, 241, 570 P.2d 1218 (1977).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> 92 Wn.2d 193, 195–96, 595 P.2d 912 (1979).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> 25 Wn. App. 798, 801-02, 609 P.2d 973, *review denied*, 94 Wn.2d 1002 (1980).

toward persuading someone to enter into an illegal arrangement, *i.e.*, prostitution, involves constitutionally protected speech."<sup>20</sup>

Defendant acknowledges that speech directed toward soliciting a prostitute is not protected speech, but argues that Seattle's ordinance is not limited to "speech integral to criminal conduct."<sup>21</sup> The ordinance applies to a person who agrees to pay money for sex or who solicits or requests sex for money. This speech not only is integral to criminal conduct, it is the criminal conduct; the sex actually occurring is not an element of the crime.

Defendant certainly is correct that overbreadth challenges often have been rejected because the statute or ordinance includes an intent element, but none of the cases he relies on have held that an intent element is *necessary* to defeat an overbreadth challenge. In *Emmons*,<sup>22</sup> the court rejected an overbreadth challenge to a Prostitution ordinance that did not include any mental state element.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See also Yakima v. Esqueda, 26 Wn. App. 347, 349, 612 P.2d 821 (1980) (rejecting argument that Prostitution ordinance is unconstitutionally overbroad).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See Appellant's Petition for Review, at 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> 25 Wn. App. at 801-02.

Indeed, the court noted that "[t]he mere act of offering to engage in sexual intercourse for a consideration is a violation of the law."<sup>23</sup>

To the extent that defendant criticizes the ordinance for not having an intent element, this Court repeatedly has stated that the legislature has the authority to create strict liability crimes that do not include a culpable mental state.<sup>24</sup> Statutes relating to prostitution quite often do not include a mental state element.<sup>25</sup> Defendant erroneously seems to imply<sup>26</sup> that Seattle's ordinance differs from state law – on the contrary, RCW 9A.88.110<sup>27</sup> does not expressly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> *Emmons*, 25 Wn. App. at 801.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> State v. Schmeling, 191 Wn. App. 795, 801, 365 P.3d 202
(2015) (*citing State v. Bradshaw*, 152 Wn.2d 528, 532, 98 P.3d 1190
(2004)); State v. Anderson, 141 Wn.2d 357, 361, 5 P.3d 1247 (2000); State v. Rivas, 126 Wn.2d 443, 452, 896 P.2d 57 (1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See, e.g., RCW 9A.88.110(1) (Patronizing a Prostitute); RCW 9.68A.100(1) (Commercial Sexual Abuse of a Minor); State v. Cashaw, 4 Wn. App. 243, 251-52, 480 P.2d 528, review denied, 79 Wn.2d 1002 (1971) (crime of living with or accepting earnings of prostitute does not require that the defendant had knowledge of the woman's activities as a prostitute; statute not unconstitutionally overbroad or vague).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See Appellant's Petition for Review, at 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> RCW 9A.88.110(1) provides:

A person is guilty of patronizing a prostitute if:

<sup>(</sup>a) Pursuant to a prior understanding, he or she pays a fee to another person as compensation for such person or a third person having engaged in sexual conduct with him or her; or

<sup>(</sup>b) He or she pays or agrees to pay a fee to another person pursuant to an understanding that in return therefor such person will engage in sexual conduct with him or her; or

include any mental state element and no case has ever suggested that the statute includes an implied mental state element. The operative language of Seattle's ordinance is exactly the same as state law.

Seattle's ordinance does include a provision expressly stating that no mental state element is required.<sup>28</sup> The reason for this provision is that another provision of Seattle's criminal code requires a mental state element unless one is expressly disavowed.<sup>29</sup> State law does not include a statute similar to this latter provision; thus, the former provision is unnecessary in the statute defining Patronizing a Prostitute under state law. Seattle's ordinance simply makes explicit what is implicit under state law.

<sup>(</sup>c) He or she solicits or requests another person to engage in sexual conduct with him or her in return for a fee.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Seattle Municipal Code 12A.10.040.C provides:

As authorized by Section 12A.04.100, liability for sexual exploitation does not require proof of any of the mental states described in Section 12A.04.030 [defining intent, knowledge, recklessness and criminal negligence].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Seattle Municipal Code 12A.04.100 provides:

Where an ordinance defining an offense does not clearly indicate a legislative intent to impose absolute liability, it should be construed as defining an offense requiring one of the mental states described in Section 12A.04.030. This section applies to all offenses defined by the ordinances of this City except those in Chapter 11.56 Seattle Municipal Code [defining serious traffic offenses].

That a defendant's culpability for agreeing to engage in sex for money does not require criminal intent is made perfectly clear by *Yakima v. Esqueda*,<sup>30</sup> which involved a male transsexual defendant agreeing to engage in "straight sex" with a male undercover police officer for \$150. Notwithstanding that the agreed-to sexual conduct was impossible, and thus could not have been the defendant's intent, he nevertheless was convicted of Prostitution and his conviction nevertheless was affirmed on appeal. The court stated:

> We find nothing objectionable in making it a crime to agree to engage in an act of sexual conduct even though one of the parties may be physically incapable or mentally indisposed to fulfill the agreement. . . . Immunity should not extend to the male defendant because he was unable to fulfill the agreement, anymore than it should extend to a woman who is able but had no intention of doing so.<sup>31</sup>

Defendant did, of course, act consciously in agreeing to pay Detective Case \$80 for sex. He told her that wanted a half-hour with one girl for just sex and agreed to pay \$80.<sup>32</sup> He not only agreed to pay the \$80, he actually handed over the cash. Nothing in the encounter suggested that defendant was kidding the officer or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> 26 Wn. App. at 348.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> *Esqueda*, 26 Wn. App. at 349-50.

making some sort of joke or was confused about the nature of the conversation. His extensive text messages to the officer rather strongly suggest that he knew exactly what he was looking for. He did not make these statements or send these text messages or appear at the condominium building by accident or involuntarily. If defendant had wanted to argue a lack of conscious action, *i.e.*, that he was sleep-walking or sleep-talking or sleep-texting, such a claim would properly have been treated as an affirmative defense for which he would have the burden of proof.<sup>33</sup> Instead, defendant's primary argument was that Detective Case's testimony was not corroborated and the evidence was insufficient.<sup>34</sup>

The federal cases upon which defendant relies involve significantly different types of speech. Defendant's reliance on language in *New York v. Ferber*<sup>35</sup> is misplaced as the court was developing a test for child pornography distinct from that for obscenity. In its overbreadth analysis, the court in *Ferber* said not a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> CP 331, 332-33, 337, 358 & 361.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> See State v. Deer, 175 Wn.2d 725, 733, 287 P.3d 539 (2012), *cert. denied*, 568 U.S. 1148 (2013) (State not required to prove defendant was awake during act of Child Rape, a strict liability crime).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> See CP 460-65.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> 458 U.S. at 765.

single word about scienter.<sup>36</sup> Defendant's reliance on *Virginia v. Black*,<sup>37</sup> shows that he misapprehends the category of speech directed toward and an integral part of unlawful conduct. In *Black*, the speech aspect of the statute was the cross-burning, which sometimes, but certainly not always, was directed toward the unlawful conduct of intimidation.<sup>38</sup> Thus, the defendant's intent determined whether the cross-burning could be proscribed. For Sexual Exploitation, on the other hand, the speech is always directed toward and is part of the unlawful conduct. *United States v. X-Citement Video, Inc.*<sup>39</sup> and *United States v. U.S. District Court for Central District of California, Los Angeles, California*<sup>40</sup> are statutory construction cases rather than ones involving speech directed toward and an integral part of criminal conduct.

The state cases upon which defendant relies also do not support his position. Like Seattle's ordinance, the prostitution

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> See 458 U.S. at 766-74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> 538 U.S. 343, 123 S. Ct. 1536, 155 L. Ed. 2d 535 (2003).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> 538 U.S. at 360 (burning of a cross is symbolic expression) &
 365 (a burning cross is not always intended to intimidate).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> 513 U.S. 64, 78, 115 S. Ct. 464, 130 L. Ed. 2d 372 (1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> 858 F.2d 534, 538 (9th Cir. 1988).

statute considered in *Oregon v. Huie*<sup>41</sup> did not expressly include any mental state element and was affected by another statute that required a mental state element unless one was expressly excluded. Unlike Seattle's ordinance, however, the Oregon statute did not expressly exclude a mental state element for Prostitution so the case seems not applicable to Seattle's ordinance. To the extent that Prostitution under Oregon law requires the parties to intend to perform the agreement of sex for money,<sup>42</sup> such is not the law in Washington.<sup>43</sup>

The statute addressed in *Ford v. Nevada* <sup>44</sup> did not concern sex for money, but, much like Washington's Promoting Prostitution statute,<sup>45</sup> inducing or compelling a person to become a prostitute. Thus, whether the defendant's speech induced or compelled the subject to become a prostitute or served some other purpose determined culpability. Again, for Sexual Exploitation, the speech is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> 292 Or. 335, 337, 638 P.2d 480 (1982).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> See Huie, 292 Or. at 338.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> *See Esqueda*, 26 Wn. App. at 348-49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> 127 Nev. 608, 613, 262 P.3d 1123 (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> *See* RCW 9A.88.070.

the crime and always directed toward and is part of the unlawful conduct.

Even if Seattle's Sexual Exploitation ordinance prohibits constitutionally protected speech, its limited scope does not violate the constitution. The second step in an overbreadth analysis is to determine whether a statute that does reach constitutionally protected speech prohibits a "real and substantial" amount of protected conduct in contrast to the statute's plainly legitimate sweep.<sup>46</sup> Defendant has not shown a substantial amount of otherwise protected speech that the ordinance prohibits. As the court noted in *State v. Immelt*,<sup>47</sup> relied on by defendant, the mere fact that one can conceive of some impermissible applications of a statute is not sufficient to render it susceptible to an overbreadth challenge. The ordinance does not prohibit general discussions of prostitution or advocacy of prostitution. Rather, the ordinance regulates speech aimed at specific individuals who solicit other individuals for sex in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> *Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d at 123.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> 173 Wn.2d 1, 11, 267 P.3d 305 (2011); *see also Members of City Council of City of Los Angeles v. Taxpayers for Vincent*, 466 U.S. 789, 800, 104 S. Ct. 2118, 80 L. Ed. 2d 772 (1984) (It is clear, however, that the mere fact that one can conceive of some impermissible

exchange for money. Defendant claims that Seattle's ordinance would apply to theatrical productions such as *Les Miserables*, Pretty woman and The Best Little Whorehouse in Texas,<sup>48</sup> but cites no specific dialogue in any production that includes an offer and agreement to pay money for sex. That a theatrical production or a movie involves prostitution or a character who is a prostitute hardly means that the particular actors are offering or agreeing to pay money for sex.

Defendant's claim that he was precluded from presenting testimony regarding his agreement to pay Detective Case \$80 for sex or his understanding of what he was soliciting or agreeing to misrepresents the record.<sup>49</sup> During motions in limine, the trial court granted the City's motion to "preclude a [sic] defense from arguing that the defendant did not intend to commit this offense."<sup>50</sup> During trial, the trial court precluded defendant from offering inadmissible hearsay.<sup>51</sup> Defendant was not prevented from offering admissible

applications of a statute is not sufficient to render it susceptible to an overbreadth challenge.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> See Appellant's Petition for Review, at 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> See Appellant's Petition for Review, at 15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> CP at 191.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> *See* CP at 401-07.

testimony that he did not solicit Detective Case for sex or that he did not agree to pay her \$80 for sex or that he did not understand that the \$80 he handed to her was for sex or that he did not understand English.

Rather than analogizing Seattle's Sexual Exploitation ordinance to laws prohibiting loitering,<sup>52</sup> horn-honking<sup>53</sup> or luring children out of a public place,<sup>54</sup> as defendant urges, this court should analyze this sex-for-money law similarly to the sex-for-money laws considered in *Carter*, *Cann* and *Emmons*. Seattle's Sexual Exploitation ordinance is not unconstitutionally overbroad.

#### F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Based on the foregoing argument, this Court should deny defendant's Petition for Review.

Respectfully submitted this 27th day of January, 2021.

## PETER S. HOLMES SEATTLE CITY ATTORNEY

s/Richard Greene Assistant City Attorney

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> *City of Tacoma v. Luvene*, 118 Wn.2d 826, 827 P.2d 1374 (1992); *Seattle v. Slack*, 113 Wn.2d 850, 784 P.2d 494 (1989).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> *Immelt*, 173 Wn.2d 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> State v. Homan, 191 Wn. App. 759, 364 P.3d 839 (2015).

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